# Usefulness of interferon gamma release assay in the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis

Kwang-Hoon Lee

Department of Medicine
The Graduate School, Yonsei University

# Usefulness of interferon gamma release assay in the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis

Directed by Professor Soo-Kon Lee

The Master's Thesis
submitted to the Department of Medicine,
the Graduate School of Yonsei University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree
of Master of Medical Science

Kwang-Hoon Lee

## This certifies that the Master's Thesis of Kwang-Hoon Lee is approved.

Soo-Kon Lee: Thesis Supervisor

Dong-Soo Kim: Thesis Committee Member#1

Sang-Nae Cho: Thesis Committee Member#2

The Graduate School Yonsei University

June 2011

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I thank professor Soo-Kon Lee for being my thesis director and giving a great guidance in writing this thesis. He pointed out the clinical problem related with the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis which is the main topic of this thesis and encouraged me to perform this research. I also thank professor Dong-Soo Kim and professor Sang-Nae Cho for their devoted help. They gave me several valuable advices related with the topic as they were authoritative in this field of tuberculosis. Lastly, I thank my wife, Ju-Hyun Kim for supporting me and having encouraged me to concentrate on this thesis.

### <TABLE OF CONTENTS>

ABSTRACT······1
I. INTRODUCTION······3
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS5
III. RESULTS·······7
1. Patient characteristics 7
2. Results of TST and QFT 8
3. Agreement between TST and QFT9
4. Factors associated with positive TST and QFT10
5. Results of follow-up test······11
IV. DISCUSSION13
V. CONCLUSION······16
REFERENCES17
ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN) ·······23

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Patient characteristics 7
Table 2. Agreement between TST and QFT in RA and control group9
Table 3. Agreement between TST and QFT according to the use of DMARDs·····10
Table 4. Multivariate analysis of factors associated with QFT11

#### **ABSTRACT**

Usefulness of interferon gamma release assay in the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis

#### Kwang-Hoon Lee

Department of Medicine
The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Soo-Kon Lee)

Use of anti-TNF-α agent increases the risk of reactivation of latent tuberculosis infection (LTBI) and detecting LTBI before using anti-TNF-α agent is mandatory. Tuberculin skin test (TST) is a traditional method for detecting LTBI, which is reported to be attenuated in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA). Interferon gamma release assay (IGRA), a novel T-cell based assay is reported to retain its sensitivity in the immunocompromised patients. The aim of this study was to determine whether IGRA shows superior performance than TST in patients with RA in South Korea. One hundred and twenty one patients with RA and 55 age- and sex- matched control patients who did both TST and Quantiferon TB gold-In-Tube (QFT-GIT) in Severance Hospital were retrospectively reviewed. TST was done by the Mantoux method using RT-23 2TU. Indurations

larger than 10 mm were considered as positive. QFT-GIT was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. The rates of positive results in TST (33.3% vs. 43.4%) and QFT-GIT (35.9% vs. 41.5%) were not significantly different between RA and control group. However, the median induration size of the patients taking disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) was significantly smaller than those of the control group [1 (0~30) mm vs. 6 (0~24)]mm, p<0.05] and the rate of positive result in TST showed a trend to be decreased as compared to that of the controls (27.6% vs. 39.6%, p=0.078), while the rate of positive results in QFT-GIT did not differ between the two groups. The agreement between TST and QFT-GIT in RA group was moderate (k =0.557) and that of the controls was substantial ( $\kappa$ =0.616). The agreement between TST and QFT-GIT was poorer in the RA group taking DMARDs (K =0.396) than in the DMARD naïve RA group ( $\kappa$ =0.702). Twelve patients underwent follow-up TST. Of the nine patients with negative TST result at baseline, four patients showed a positive conversion at follow-up and three of them had positive QFT-GIT results at baseline. Seven patients underwent follow-up QFT-GIT. The results of follow-up QFT-GIT in seven patients remained unchanged. These data suggest that QFT-GIT shows superior performance in patients with RA taking DMARDs. QFT-GIT may have a value in the diagnosis of LTBI in patients with RA.

\_\_\_\_\_

Key words: rheumatoid arthritis, latent tuberculosis infection, tuberculin skin test, interferon gamma release assay, Quantiferon TB gold in tube

Usefulness of interferon gamma release assay in the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis

#### Kwang-Hoon Lee

#### Department of Medicine

The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Soo-Kon Lee)

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic inflammatory polyarthritis. Although the use of disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) in RA has substantially improved the treatment outcome, there are still patients refractory to DMARDs. Anti-tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α agent is a novel biologic agent which has proved to be effective in DMARD refractory patients with RA. TNF-α, which is a target molecule of anti-TNF-α agent, is a pro-inflammatory cytokine which plays an important role in the development of inflammation and autoimmunity <sup>1</sup>. It also plays a major role in the recruitment of immune cells against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (MTB) <sup>2</sup>. Hence, the use of anti-TNF-α agent is associated with reactivation of latent tuberculosis infection (LTBI) <sup>3</sup> and detecting and treating LTBI before using anti-TNF-α agent is mandatory.

Tuberculin skin test (TST) is a traditional method for detecting LTBI. It has been used world-wide and the sensitivity reaches 77% and the specificity for MTB ranges between  $60 \sim 97\%$  depending on the populations studied <sup>4</sup>. TST has some limitations such as cross reaction with non-tuberculosis mycobacterium (NTM) and bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) and that it is attenuated in populations with immunocompromizing conditions such as HIV <sup>5</sup>, ESRD <sup>6</sup>, malnutrition <sup>7</sup> and organ transplantation <sup>8</sup>. In case of RA, tuberculin reaction has been reported to be attenuated compared to healthy controls probably due to the disease itself and the use of immunosuppressive drugs <sup>9-10</sup>. In this sense, determining the presence of LTBI in patients with RA based only on TST may have a risk of missing true LTBIs.

Interferon gamma release assay (IGRA) is a novel T cell-based assay for the diagnosis of LTBI. It measures the level of interferon-gamma released from circulating T cells sensitized to MTB after incubating patient's whole blood with MTB specific antigens. IGRA has shown superior performance even in the immunocompromised population including RA compared to TST <sup>6, 11</sup>. The studies supporting the usefulness of IGRA in RA, however, were done in either high <sup>11</sup> or low <sup>12</sup> tuberculosis (TB) burden areas and the comparison of TST and IGRA in populations with intermediate TB burden has rarely been studied.

The aim of this study was to determine whether Quantiferon TB gold in tube (QFT-GIT), an IGRA, shows better performance than TST in patients with RA living in South Korea, where the burden of TB is intermediate <sup>13</sup>.

#### II. PATIENTS AND METHODS

#### 1. Patients

One hundred twenty-one patients with RA fulfilling the 1987 American College of Rheumatology criteria and fifty-five patients with various non-inflammatory diseases who did both TST and QFT between 2005 and 2010 at Severance Hospital in Seoul, South Korea were retrospectively reviewed. Patients with any one of the followings were excluded from the study: 1) diseases related with immunosuppression (HIV infection, malignancy, diabetes mellitus, recipient in organ transplantation), 2) use of immunosuppressive medications (this criterion was applied only to the control group), 3) active TB, and 4) a history of hypersensitivity reaction to PPD. This study was approved by the local institutional review board.

#### 2. Methods

The results of TST and QFT-GIT of each patient were obtained from the medical records. Information about BCG vaccination, history of close contact with active TB and prior history of active TB were acquired through telephone interview.

#### A. Tuberculin skin test

For TST, a purified protein derivative (PPD), RT 23, 2TU was injected by intradermal Mantoux method and the size of skin induration was measured after 48-72 hours. An induration larger than 10 mm in diameter was considered as positive.

#### B. Quantiferon TB Gold In Tube

QFT-GIT was performed at the Immunology laboratory in Severance Hospital according to the manufacturer's instructions (Cellestis Ltd, Carnegie, Australia). One milliliter blood was drawn from the patient directly into each of three evacuated tubes: 1) negative control tube containing only heparin 2) positive control tube containing phytohemagglutinin for T cell mitogen 3) TB antigen tube containing MTB specific antigens ESAT-6, CFP-10 and TB 7.7. The tubes mixed with patient's whole blood were incubated for 20 hours at 37°C before plasma was harvested and were stored frozen at -20°C until further analysis within 5 days. Using ELISA, the level of interferon gamma in each plasma sample was measured. Results were calculated using the software provided by the manufacturer.

#### C. Statistical analysis

With SPSS, version 15.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL), student's *t*-test and Mann-Whitney U test were used to compare parametric and non-parametric continuous variables between RA and control group, respectively. Chi square test was used to compare the positive rates of TST and QFT-GIT between RA and control group. The agreement between TST and QFT-GIT was assessed by kappa statistic. Logistic regression analysis was used to determine the factors associated with TST and QFT-GIT results.

#### III. RESULTS

#### 1. Patient characteristics

The mean age of the RA group was 50.7±11.3 years, and 72.6% were female, which were not different from those of the control group. History of pulmonary TB, close contact with active TB and BCG vaccination were not different between the two groups. For the RA group, median disease duration was 9 months and mean value of ESR and CRP were 56.5 mm/hr and 1.57 mg/dL respectively. About half (50.4%) of RA group were taking DMARDs at the time of the test and 66% of them were taking methotrexate (Table 1).

Table 1. Patient characteristics

	RA group	Control group	p
	(n=121)	(n=55)	
Age (mean±SD, years)	50.7±11.3	50.6±18	NS
Female (%)	72.6	62.3	NS
History of pulmonary TB (%)	6.8	11.3	NS
Close contact with active TB (%)	8.5	15.1	NS
BCG vaccination (%)	85.5	86.8	NS
Disease duration (median, months)	9 (1-203)		
ESR (mean±SD, mm/hr)	56.5±29		
CRP (mean±SD, mg/dL)	$1.57 \pm 1.86$		
DAS28 (mean±SD)	5.2±1.3		
Use of DMARD (%)	49.5		
Methotrexate (%)	66		
Low dose prednisolone (%)	80		

NS: not significant, TB: tuberculosis, BCG: bacillus Calmette-Guérin, ESR: erythrocyte sedimentation rate, CRP: C-reactive protein, DAS28: disease activity score 28, DMARD: disease modifying anti-rheumatic drug.

#### 2. Results of TST and QFT-GIT

#### A. Comparison between RA group and control group

The median induration size [6(0-24) mm vs. 5(0-30) mm] and TST positive rate of both groups (33.3% vs. 43.4%) were not significantly different between the two groups. The positive rate of QFT-GIT (35.9% vs. 41.5%) was also not significantly different between the two groups either. The rate of indeterminate result was 3.4% in RA group and 3.8% in control group.

#### B. Comparison of RA subgroups with control group

RA group was divided into two groups according to the use of DMARDs. Sixty-one patients were taking DMARDs (RA on DMARDs) at the time of the test and 60 patients were not (DMARD naïve RA).

#### (A) DMARD naïve RA versus control

The induration size [7(0-29) mm vs. 6(0-24) mm], TST positive rate (34.4% vs. 39.6%) and QFT-GIT positive rate (37.9% vs. 41.5%) of DMARD naïve RA group and control group were not significantly different. The rate of indeterminate result was not different between the two groups (3.4% vs. 3.8%).

#### (B) RA on DMARDs versus control

The median induration size of the RA patients on DMARDs was significantly smaller than that of the control group [1(0-30) mm vs. 6(0-24) mm, p=0.04]. The

TST positive rate of the RA patients on DMARDs showed a trend of decrease without statistical significance (27.6% vs. 39.6%, p=0.078). However, the positive rates of QFT-GIT were comparable between the two groups (34.5% vs. 41.5%). The rate of indeterminate result was not different between the two groups (3.4% vs. 3.8%).

#### 3. Agreement between TST and QFT

The agreement between TST and QFT-GIT in RA group in overall was moderate (80.3%, kappa=0.557) and that of the control group was substantial (81.1%, kappa=0.616) (Table 2). The agreement between TST and QFT-GIT differed according to the use of DMARDs in RA group. In RA patients taking DMARDs, the agreement was fair (74.5%, kappa=0.396) whereas the agreement in the DMARD naïve RA patients was substantial (86.2%, kappa=0.702) (Table 3).

Table 2. Agreement between TST and QFT in RA and control groups

-	RA group (overall)			Control group		
	QFT-GIT +	QFT-GIT -	Total	QFT-GIT +	QFT-GIT -	Total
TST +	27	8	35	18	6	24
TST -	15	67	82	4	25	29
Total	42	75	117	22	31	53
Kappa		0.557			0.616	

RA: rheumatoid arthritis, QFT-GIT: Quantiferon TB gold in tube, TST: tuberculin skin Test.

Table 3. Agreement between TST and QFT-GIT according to the use of DMARDs

	RA on DMARDs			DMARD naïve RA		
	QFT-GIT+	QFT-GIT -	Total	QFT-GIT +	QFT-GIT -	Total
TST +	10	5	15	17	3	20
TST -	10	34	44	5	33	38
Total	20	39	59	22	36	58
Kappa		0.396			0.702	

RA: rheumatoid arthritis, DMARD: disease modifying anti-rheumatic drug, QFT-GIT: Quantiferon TB gold in tube, TST: tuberculin skin test.

#### 4. Factors associated with positive results of TST and QFT-GIT

#### A. Factors associated with positive TST result

An univariate analysis of multiple clinical factors was performed, but no significant factors were associated with TST results in the RA group.

#### B. Factors associated with positive QFT-GIT result

Among the multiple clinical factors, increased age was significantly associated with QFT-GIT result in the univariate analysis. This association was still significant in the multivariate analysis (OR 1.047, 95% CI 1.004 – 1.092, p=0.03, Table 4).

Table 4. Multivariate analysis of factors associated with QFT-GIT

	В	Exp (B)	P
Age	0.046	1.047	0.03
Male sex	0.201	1.222	0.736
Contact with active TB	1.022	2.779	0.328
BCG vaccination	-0.397	0.672	0.538
DAS28	0.027	1.027	0.912
Use of methotrexate	1.170	3.222	0.418
Use of prednisolone	-1.593	0.203	0.251

TB: tuberculosis, BCG: bacillus Calmette-Guérin, DAS28: disease activity score 28.

#### 5. Results of follow-up test

#### A. Follow-up TST

Twelve patients with RA underwent follow-up TST. The median duration between baseline and follow-up was 11 (4-30) months. All patients received DMARDs and 3 patients received anti-TNF- $\alpha$  agent during the follow-up period. Nine patients had negative TST results at baseline. Among them, 4 patients (44.4%) showed a positive conversion at follow-up. Of the 4 patients who showed positive conversions, 3 had positive QFT-GIT result at baseline. The results of follow-up TST in 3 patients who had positive TST results at baseline did not change.

#### B. Follow-up QFT-GIT

Seven patients underwent follow-up QFT-GIT. Median duration between baseline and follow-up was 9.5 (4-11) months. All patients received DMARDs and 2 patients received anti-TNF-α agent during the period. Five patients had positive QFT-GIT result and 2 patients had negative result at baseline. None of the 7 patients showed a change in the results of follow-up QFT-GIT.

#### IV. DISCUSSION

Attenuated tuberculin reaction in patients with RA has been shown by several studies <sup>14-17</sup>. IGRA including QFT-GIT is currently in the spotlight as a novel diagnostic method for LTBI in general population. However, the performance of QFT-GIT in immunocompromized populations such as RA has been evaluated only by small numbers of studies <sup>18-19</sup>. Moreover, they have rarely been compared in regions with intermediate TB burden and high BCG vaccination coverage. Also, there are reports of HLA-associated inability to respond to ESAT-6 and CFP-10<sup>20</sup>, which suggests an ethnic difference in the rate of response to QFT-GIT. In this sense, our study has a value in that it was done in patients with "RA" living in "South Korea", where the burden of TB is intermediate and BCG vaccination is routine.

TST in DMARD naïve RA group were comparable to those of the control group whereas the DMARD taking RA group showed a reduced tuberculin reaction. In a study by Maria et al<sup>21</sup>, negative PPD and PPD anergy were associated with the use of glucocorticoid and methotrexate. Similar results were reported by Murakami et al<sup>22</sup>. The RA patients taking DMARDs in this study were receiving methotrexate in 66% and prednisolone in 80%. Although the attenuated tuberculin reaction in RA has been attributed to the disease itself, the tuberculin reaction in DMARD naïve RA has rarely been studied. In this study, I found that TST in DMARD naïve RA patients were comparable to those of the control group.

The results of QFT-GIT were comparable to those of control group in RA group

irrespective of the use of DMARDs. Similar findings have been reported by several studies <sup>11, 19, 23</sup>, although discordant results are also reported <sup>12</sup>. The comparable performance of QFT-GIT between RA and control group irrespective of the use of DMARDs supports that QFT-GIT is not influenced by external factors. Indeterminate results were found in 3.4% of RA group which were similar to control group. Some studies have reported that indeterminate results are more common in patients with RA, which raises a concern about the use of IGRA. However, the reported rate of indeterminate results in patients with RA varied among studies<sup>12</sup>, <sup>22-24</sup>. A recent study reported that the delay in the incubation increases the rate of indeterminate results in QFT-GIT <sup>25</sup>. The interpretation of indeterminate result is a difficult problem. Indeterminate results may come from the attenuated immunity of the host <sup>26</sup> and may mask true LTBI. Indeterminate result may turn into positive when the mixture of patient's whole blood and the antigen is incubated for a longer duration. The agreement between TST and QFT was moderate to substantial in this study. The agreement in patients taking DMARDs, however, was poorer than that of DMARD naïve RA group. This is mainly due to the discrepant results where QFT-GIT is positive and TST negative. The use of DMARD might have attenuated the results of TST. In this study, 23 of 117 RA patients had discrepant results. 15 had QFT-GIT +/ TST- and 8 had QFT-GIT-/TST+. In a study by Chen et al <sup>27</sup>, active TB developed after treatment with adalimumab in 2 out of 35 patients who had negative TST at baseline. Two patients who developed active TB had positive QFT-GIT result in the follow-up and 1 had positive conversion in TST. In this sense, TST-/QFT-GIT+ should be interpreted as LTBI in RA. The interpretation of TST+/QFT-GIT- discrepancy should also be done with caution. The sensitivity of QFT reaches only 77% <sup>4</sup>. Negative QFT result does not exclude the presence of LTBI. Although TST+/QFT-GIT- discrepancy may indicate false positive TST due to BCG vaccination, the effect of BCG on TST result wanes with time and disappears in several years when it is performed during the neonatal period <sup>28</sup>.

Increased age was significantly associated with positive results QFT-GIT result in multivariate analysis while other conventional risk factors for LTBI were not associated with either TST or QFT-GIT. Similar association was reported in a study by Martin et al <sup>29</sup>. One possible explanation for this association may be that as the subject ages, the chance to have a close contact with active TB may increase. This would be an indirect evidence of the superiority of QFT-GIT compared to TST. In the analysis of follow-up TST and QFT-GIT, among the nine patients who had negative TST results at baseline, 4 (44.4%) patients showed a positive conversion while the results of QFT-GIT did not change. Interestingly, three of the four patients with positive conversion of TST had positive QFT-GIT result at baseline. These four patients were treated with DMARDs including biological agent and did not contact with active TB patient during the period from baseline and follow-up.

#### V. CONCLUSION

In this study, QFT-GIT showed better performance in Korean patients with RA on DMARDs compared to TST. QFT-GIT may have a value in the diagnosis of LTBI in patients with RA.

#### REFERENCES

- Maini RN, Brennan FM, Williams R, Chu CQ, Cope AP, Gibbons D, et al. TNF-alpha in rheumatoid arthritis and prospects of anti-TNF therapy. Clin Exp Rheumatol 1993;11 Suppl 8:S173-5.
- 2. Quesniaux VF, Jacobs M, Allie N, Grivennikov S, Nedospasov SA, Garcia I, *et al.* TNF in host resistance to tuberculosis infection. Curr Dir Autoimmun 2010;11:157-79.
- Gomez-Reino JJ, Carmona L, Valverde VR, Mola EM, Montero MD.
   Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with tumor necrosis factor inhibitors
   may predispose to significant increase in tuberculosis risk: a
   multicenter active-surveillance report. Arthritis Rheum 2003;
   48(8):2122-7.
- 4. Pai M, Zwerling A, Menzies D. Systematic review: T-cell-based assays for the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis infection: an update. Ann Intern Med 2008;149(3):177-84.
- Verhagen LM, Warris A, van Soolingen D, de Groot R, Hermans PW.
   Human immunodeficiency virus and tuberculosis coinfection in children: challenges in diagnosis and treatment. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2010;29(10):e63-70.
- 6. Triverio PA, Bridevaux PO, Roux-Lombard P, Niksic L, Rochat T, Martin PY, *et al.* Interferon-gamma release assays versus tuberculin skin testing for detection of latent tuberculosis in chronic

- haemodialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2009;24(6):1952-6.
- 7. Pelly TF, Santillan CF, Gilman RH, Cabrera LZ, Garcia E, Vidal C, *et al.* Tuberculosis skin testing, anergy and protein malnutrition in Peru. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2005;9(9):977-84.
- 8. Sester U, Wilkens H, van Bentum K, Singh M, Sybrecht GW, Schafers HJ, *et al.* Impaired detection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* immunity in patients using high levels of immunosuppressive drugs. Eur Respir J 2009;34(3):702-10.
- 9. Helliwell MG, Panayi GS, Unger A. Delayed cutaneous hypersensitivity in rheumatoid arthritis: the influence of nutrition and drug therapy. Clin Rheumatol 1984;3(1):39-45.
- 10. Emery P, Panayi GS, Nouri AM. Interleukin-2 reverses deficient cell-mediated immune responses in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Immunol 1984;57(1):123-9.
- 11. Ponce de Leon D, Acevedo-Vasquez E, Alvizuri S, Gutierrez C, Cucho M, Alfaro J, *et al.* Comparison of an interferon-gamma assay with tuberculin skin testing for detection of tuberculosis (TB) infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in a TB-endemic population. J Rheumatol 2008;35(5):776-81.
- 12. Greenberg JD, Reddy SM, Schloss SG, Kurucz OS, Bartlett SJ, Abramson SB, *et al.* Comparison of an *in vitro* tuberculosis interferon-gamma assay with delayed-type hypersensitivity testing for

- detection of latent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: a pilot study in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 2008;35(5):770-5.
- 13. Seong SS, Choi CB, Woo JH, Bae KW, Joung CL, Uhm WS et al. Incidence of tuberculosis in Korean patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA): effects of RA itself and of tumor necrosis factor blockers. J Rheumatol 2007;34:706-11.
- 14. Koker IH, Pamuk ON, Karlikaya C, Tuncbilek N, Cakir N. A low prevalance of purified protein derivative test positivity in Turkish patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Association with clinical features and HRCT findings. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2007;25(1):54-9.
- 15. Ponce de Leon D, Acevedo-Vasquez E, Sanchez-Torres A, Cucho M, Alfaro J, Perich R, *et al.* Attenuated response to purified protein derivative in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: study in a population with a high prevalence of tuberculosis. Ann Rheum Dis 2005; 64(9):1360-1.
- 16. Sezer I, Kocabas H, Melikoglu MA, Arman M. Positiveness of purified protein derivatives in rheumatoid arthritis patients who are not receiving immunosuppressive therapy. Clin Rheumatol 2009; 28(1):53-7.
- 17. Smith MD, Smith A, O'Donnell J, Ahern MJ, Roberts-Thomson PJ.

  Impaired delayed type cutaneous hypersensitivity in rheumatoid arthritis reversed by chrysotherapy. Ann Rheum Dis 1989;

- 48(2):108-13.
- 18. Gogus F, Gunendi Z, Karakus R, Erdogan Z, Hizel K, Atalay F. Comparison of tuberculin skin test and QuantiFERON-TB gold in tube test in patients with chronic inflammatory diseases living in a tuberculosis endemic population. Clin Exp Med 2010;10(3):173-7.
- 19. Inanc N, Aydin SZ, Karakurt S, Atagunduz P, Yavuz S, Direskeneli H. Agreement between Quantiferon-TB gold test and tuberculin skin test in the identification of latent tuberculosis infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis. J Rheumatol 2009; 36(12):2675-81.
- 20. Bothamley GH, Beck JS, Schreuder GM, D'Amaro J, de Vries RR, Kardjito T, *et al.* Association of tuberculosis and *M. tuberculosis*-specific antibody levels with HLA. J Infect Dis 1989;159(3):549-55.
- 21. Tamborenea MN, Tate G, Mysler E, Debonis J, Schijedman A.

  Prevalence of positive PPD in a cohort of rheumatoid arthritis patients.

  Rheumatol Int 2010;30(5):613-6.
- Murakami S, Takeno M, Kirino Y, Kobayashi M, Watanabe R, Kudo M, et al. Screening of tuberculosis by interferon-gamma assay before biologic therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2009; 89(2):136-41.
- 23. Behar SM, Shin DS, Maier A, Coblyn J, Helfgott S, Weinblatt ME.
  Use of the T-SPOT.TB assay to detect latent tuberculosis infection

- among rheumatic disease patients on immunosuppressive therapy. J Rheumatol 2009;36(3):546-51.
- 24. Shovman O, Anouk M, Vinnitsky N, Arad U, Paran D, Litinsky I, *et al.*QuantiFERON-TB Gold in the identification of latent tuberculosis infection in rheumatoid arthritis: a pilot study. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2009;13(11):1427-32.
- 25. Herrera V, Yeh E, Murphy K, Parsonnet J, Banaei N. Immediate incubation reduces indeterminate results for QuantiFERON-TB Gold in-tube assay. J Clin Microbiol 2010;48(8):2672-6.
- 26. Haustein T, Ridout DA, Hartley JC, Thaker U, Shingadia D, Klein NJ, et al. The likelihood of an indeterminate test result from a whole-blood interferon-gamma release assay for the diagnosis of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection in children correlates with age and immune status. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2009;28(8):669-73.
- 27. Chen DY, Shen GH, Hsieh TY, Hsieh CW, Lan JL. Effectiveness of the combination of a whole-blood interferon-gamma assay and the tuberculin skin test in detecting latent tuberculosis infection in rheumatoid arthritis patients receiving adalimumab therapy. Arthritis Rheum 2008;59(6):800-6.
- 28. Wang L, Turner MO, Elwood RK, Schulzer M, FitzGerald JM. A meta-analysis of the effect of Bacille Calmette Guerin vaccination on tuberculin skin test measurements. Thorax 2002;57(9):804-9.

29. Martin J, Walsh C, Gibbs A, McDonnell T, Fearon U, Keane J, *et al.*Comparison of interferon γ release assays and conventional screening tests before tumour necrosis factor α blockade in patients with inflammatory arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2010;69(1):181-5.

#### ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN)

류마티스 관절염 환자의 잠복 결핵 진단에 있어 interferon gamma release assay의 유용성

<지도교수 이 수 곤>

연세대학교 대학원 의학과

이광훈

항 TNF-α제제의 사용은 잠복 결핵의 재활성화의 위험을 증가시키며 약제의 사용 전 잠복 결핵을 진단하는 일은 필수적이다. 투베르쿨린 피부 반응 검사 (tuberculin skin test, TST)는 잠복 결핵을 진단하는 전통적인 방법으로 류마티스 관절염 환자에서 반응이 떨어지는 것으 로 알려져 있다. Interferon gamma release assay (IGRA)는 새로운 T 세포 기반 진단 기법으로서 면역력이 저하된 환자에서도 민감도를 유 지하는 것으로 알려져 있다. 본 연구에서는 국내 류마티스 관절염 환 자에서 IGRA가 TST보다 우월한 성과를 보이는지 알아보고자 하였다. 세브란스 병원에 내원한 121명의 류마티스 관절염 환자와 나이, 성별 을 맞춘 55명의 대조군 환자를 후향적으로 조사하였으며 모든 환자들 은 TST와 Quantiferon Tb gold In tube (QFT-GIT)를 시행하였다. TST 는 RT-23, 2 tuberculin unit (TU)를 Mantoux 방법을 이용해 시행하였 고 10 mm 이상의 피부 경결을 양성으로 판정하였다. OFT-GIT는 제조회 사의 안내서에 따라 시행하였다. TST의 양성률 (33.3% vs. 43.4%)과 QFT-GIT의 양성률(35.9% vs. 41.5%)은 류마티스 관절염군과 대조군간 차이가 없었다. 반면, Disease modifying anti-rheumatic drug (DMARD) 를 복용하는 류마티스 관절염 환자군의 평균 피부 경결 크기는 대조 군에 비해 의미있게 작았으며 [1 (0~30) mm vs. 6 (0~24) mm, p<0.05], TST의 양성률은 더 낮은 경향을 보였다 (27.6% vs. 39.6%, p=0.078). 반면 OFT의 양성률은 양군간 차이가 없었다. TST와 OFT-GIT의 일치율 은 류마티스 관절염 군에서 moderate (κ=0.557) 였고 대조군에서 substantial (κ=0.616) 하였다. DMARD를 복용하는 류마티스 관절염군 에서의 일치율(к=0.396)은 복용하지 않는 군(к=0.702)에 비해 더 불량하였다. 12명의 환자는 추가적으로 TST를 시행하였다. 기저 시 점에서 음성의 TST 결과를 보인 9명의 환자 중 4명(44.4%)의 환자에 서 양성으로 전환되는 것이 관찰되었고 이 4명 중 3명은 기저 시점에 서 이미 QFT-GIT는 양성이었다. 7명의 환자에서 시행된 추가적인 QFT-GIT 검사에서는 결과의 변화는 관찰되지 않았다. 이러한 결과들 은 QFT-GIT가 DMARD를 복용하는 류마티스 관절염 환자에서 더 우월한 성과를 보임을 시사한다. QFT-GIT는 류마티스 관절염 환자의 잠복 결 핵 진단에서 가치가 있을 것이다.

\_\_\_\_\_

핵심되는 말 : 류마티스 관절염, 잠복 결핵, 투베르쿨린 피부 반응검사, interferon gamma release assay, Quantiferon TB gold In Tube